**RECEIVED**

**Dec 16 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of  
Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2023-001147

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT  
COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes III,  
Master in Equity and Special  
Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2020-CP-07- 00977

BOKF Real Estate Holding, LLC

Respondent,

v.

T & S Management, Inc. and Turan Strange

Appellants

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

/s/ Michael W. Mogil

Michael W. Mogil  
Mogil Law Firm  
2 Corpus Christie Place, Ste. 103  
Hilton Head Island, SC 29928  
(843)785-8110  
mmogil@mogillaw.com  
Attorney for Appellants

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S RULE 59 MOTION?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court on Appellant's appeal of the trial court's denial of its Rule 59 Motion to Alter and Amend an Order of Summary Judgment entered in favor of the Respondent on May 8, 2023. This is an admittedly unusual procedural stance caused by counsel's error that an Appeal of the Rule 59 Motion automatically encompassed an appeal of the underlying Rule 56 Order of Summary Judgment and thus counsel's error in not addressing the Order of Summary Judgment itself in the Notice of Appeal. Counsel attempted to cure this issue with a Motion to Amend filed with the Honorable Court, which was denied.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The underlying lawsuit which is the subject of this matter arose from a restaurant lease between Appellant T & S Management, Inc. as tenant, and WD-1 Associates, LLC("WD-1"), as landlord for restaurant space at the Sea Turtle Center on Hilton Head Island, South Carolina. Appellant Turan Strange is the principal of T & S Management and a guarantor of the lease contract between WD-1 and T & S. For historical reference, the center was formerly known as Pineland Station, and the restaurant was known as Another Broken Egg. T & S Management, Inc. purchased the franchise rights to Another Broken Egg locations on Hilton Head Island, and also in Pooler, Georgia. The Hilton Head Island location closed in January, 2020. The Pooler location remains open. As of the date of

hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment, Respondent BOKF no longer owned the subject premises or shopping center, having sold the property in or around October, 2022. BOKF actually acquired the subject premises and center, allegedly, through a bankruptcy sale process in the WD-1 2019 bankruptcy, in or around March, 2020, after Respondent T & S closed its business. BOKF was not the actual landlord for T & S at any time during its operation. [Deposition of Warren Hill, Record at pp 155-195]

Subsequent to its acquiring the shopping center, BOKF filed the suit herein against T & S and its principal, seeking damages due to alleged breach of lease. Thereafter, BOKF leased the subject premises to another restaurant, approximately sixteen months after T & S closed. The new restaurant, whose trade name is "Gusto" acquired the premises with the the personal property owned by T & S. [Record at pp155-196 and Affidavit of W Hill Record at p 43]

### ARGUMENT

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). "Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law." Id. In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists, the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from it must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C., 354 S.C. 397, 404, 581 S.E.2d 161, 165 (2003). The standard for review of a Rule 59 Motion is limited to determining whether there was an abuse of discretion." Raby Constr., L.L.P. v. Orr, 358 S.C. 10, 17-18, 594

S.E.2d 478, 482 (2004). "An abuse of discretion arises where the trial judge was controlled by an error of law or where his order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support." Tri-County Ice & Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co., 303 S.C. 237, 242, [399 S.E.2d 779](#), 782 (1990).

Appellant avers that based on the record before the trial court, the trial judge ruled on a number of matters which constitute reversible error.

Appellant's Rule 59 Motion alleged that the trial court should reconsider its Order based on six alleged errors which are copied below.

1. Mr. Turan Strange's uncontroverted affidavit states that the conduct of Plaintiff's predecessor in interest, WD-1, delayed T & S from opening its business for more than one year according to Mr. Strange, and ultimately defeated Appellants's business purpose. Mr. Strange also testified regarding the promotional materials and promises made by WD-1 regarding shopping center foot traffic and aesthetics. Appellants argue that WD-1's conduct and omissions and maintenance of the center were and are a breach of the lease which occurred prior to and was a direct cause of Appellants alleged breach. The Order granting summary judgment does not recognize that WD-1's conduct as a breach or that such conduct excused Appellants performance or caused Appellants alleged breach. [Affidavit at Record p. 196 and Deposition Record at p. 211]

2. The Order does not give Appellants financial credit for fixtures and equipment left at the restaurant premises, which accrued to landlord's benefit. Appellants submitted an affidavit from Turan Strange documenting his valuation of the remaining fixtures and equipment. At the Rule 59 Motion Appellants requested leave from the Court to include in the record Mr. Strange's amended affidavit, which updates his damages

calculations, but which was not yet executed as of the date of the final hearing in the matter. The Court denied Appellant's request by not adjusting the damages in the final Order to reflect Mr. Strange's calculations. [Amended Affidavit Record at p. 208].

3. The Order stated that the Landlord under the lease did not have a duty to mitigate its damages. Appellants disputed this interpretation and request that the Court consider that no evidence was introduced that demonstrates that Respondent exercised any effort to mitigate damages or locate a new tenant. Rather, Respondent referred the matter to Sperry Van Ness, whom Respondent asked the court to presume exercised proper efforts based on its standing and reputation. Sperry did in fact produce a new tenant, which tenant was and is paying considerably less than Respondent for the same space, despite a much higher commercial market in 2021 and not factoring in the significant improvements that Appellants made to the property prior to vacating. [Deposition of Hill, Record at pp 155-195].

4. The Order granting summary judgment appears to assign credibility to Respondent's affiant witness, Warren Hill. At deposition approximately ten days before the subject hearing, Mr. Hill acknowledged that he did not prepare the financial damages calculations and that he did not have specific knowledge of how to calculate such damages. Further, Mr. Hill admitted at deposition that he did not have direct contact with the Appellants nor knowledge of the dealings between the prior landlord WD-1 and the Appellants prior to Respondent acquiring the leasehold interest. Mr. Hill admitted he had no knowledge regarding the history of the property site before BOKF took over in March, 2020, which was after Appellants closed. [Deposition of Hill, Record at pp 155-195]

5. Appellants contend that Plaintiff's damages, if any, should not include

damages for the period prior to March 1, 2020, which is on or about the date that Plaintiff acquired the subject shopping center. The bankruptcy sale documents introduced by Plaintiff document that Plaintiff acquired the subject property—upon information and belief the sale documents do not assign past due rents, late fees, additional rent or any other Defendant obligations which accrued prior to the acquisition. In sum, Defendants contend that Plaintiff's damages, if any, only accrued during the period between March 1, 2021 and October, 2022, when the property was allegedly sold to an unrelated third party. [Respondent's damages submissions, Record at pp 199-207].

6. Defendants argue that any damages awarded to Plaintiff should not include damages for late fees, penalty fees, or the differential between the lower rent that the new tenant, Gusto, is paying and the contract rent that T & S Management was paying pursuant to its lease.

[Items copied from Appellant's Rule 59 Motion for Reconsideration with updated references to Appellant and Respondent].

In sum, in their Rule 59 motion Appellants established there were a number of unresolved fact issues, the resolution of which were and are necessary to find summary judgment in favor of Respondent as a matter of law. Appellants also argued that the damages awarded should be reduced for the factors stated.

Appellants aver that all their arguments made in the Rule 59 motion would be reviewable in an Appeal of the Rule 56 Order granting summary judgment. However, under the limited standard of review applied to the appeal of the Rule 59 Order herein, Appellants must narrow the scope of review to areas where the trial court committed reversible error. Specifically, Appellants argue that Sections 2, 4 and 5 of its motion state issues where the

trial court had limited discretion to rule as it did.

In Section 2 of their motion, Appellants argued that by denying the introduction of Mr. Strange's amended affidavit which fully described the value of the restaurant property left in the premises, for the benefit of the landlord and new tenant, the damages awarded far exceeded the actual damages suffered. Appellants argue that the trial court further erred by not giving Appellants full credit for the property value stated in Mr. Strange's original affidavit filed in opposition to the motion for summary judgment.

In Section 4 of their motion, Appellants argued the trial court improperly permitted the damages testimony, by affidavit, of Respondent's witness, who previously admitted at deposition that he had no actual knowledge of the tenant's lease and circumstances nor did he compile and prepare the damages calculations introduced by Respondent and accepted by the Court. Appellants argued that these damages calculations were incomplete and erroneous and should have been prepared by a person with actual knowledge, and not a witness employed by the Respondent who assumed his role after Appellants restaurant closed and who no longer had responsibility for the shopping center as of the date of the Rule 556 hearing, because the subject shopping center property had been sold by Respondent to a third party.

In Section 5 of their motion. Appellants argued that any damages in the nature of rent differential, late fees and penalties which accrued before BOKF purchased the premises from the prior owner WD-1, in bankruptcy court, in March 2020. Further, alleged damages in the nature of rent differential, late fees and penalties which accrued after Respondent BOKF sold the premises in October, 2022 should not accrue to BOKF, but rather to its successor in interest.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Appellant's request that the Honorable Court reverse the trial court's order denying Appellants Rule 59 motion, and remit this matter for further trial on the merits.