**RECEIVED**

**Jul 19 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2023-001147

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Master In Equity

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in  
Equity and Special Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2020-CP-07-00977

BOKF Real Estate Holding, LLC,

Respondent,

v.

T & S Management, Inc. and  
Turan Strange,

Appellants.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

**NOVIT & SCARMINACH, P.A.**  
Edward M. Kubec, Esq.  
52 New Orleans Rd., Suite 400  
Hilton Head Island, SC 29928  
(843) 785-5850  
ekubec@ns-lawfirm.com  
**Attorneys for Respondent**

**

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **A. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY PROPERLY EXERCISED HIS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION**

In their Motion for Reconsideration, the Appellants maintained that the Master's grant of summary judgment in favor of BOKF was erroneous for six different reasons. In their Initial Brief, it appears that Appellants have limited their appeal to three issues decided by the Master: (1) the Master's consideration of evidence concerning the value of improvements and fixtures to the Premises, (2) the Master's consideration of Affidavits by Warren Hill, the Senior Vice President and Manager of REO Special Assets/Facilities for BOKF and (3) the calculation of BOKF's

damages and whether the damages include amounts that accrued both prior to BOKF's acquiring the Premises and after BOKF sold the Premises. (Appellants' Initial Brief at pgs. 8-9). Those three issues are discussed in sections 2, 4 and 5 below. Accordingly, it appears that Appellants have abandoned the other three issues raised in the Motion for Consideration. Nevertheless, because it is less than crystal clear to BOKF exactly what Appellants are contesting on appeal, BOKF other issues raised by Appellants in their Motion for Reconsideration, but seemingly not addressed in this appeal, in sections 1, 3 and 6 below.

**1. The Delayed Opening of the Restaurant Did Not Excuse Appellants' Obligations**

Appellants argued in the Motion for Reconsideration that the Master erred by not finding that the acts or omissions of the prior landlord for the subject property, WD-I, amounted to a breach of the Lease and that WD-I's purported breach either excused T&S' performance under the Lease or caused T&S to breach the Lease. Specifically, Appellants posit that WD-I's actions or inactions somehow delayed T&S from opening the restaurant for more than one year and that WD-I otherwise failed to provide required foot traffic and certain aesthetics for the Shopping Center.<sup>3</sup>

The Master appropriately considered and rejected these arguments in both the underlying summary judgment motion and Motion for Reconsideration. With regard to the delayed opening, the evidence shows that Appellants and WD-I entered into three amendments to the original Lease, each time extending the opening date for the restaurant and deferring the commencement of rent payments. (Hill Aff., ¶4, ROA \_\_\_\_). Thus, the Master correctly ruled that Appellants effectively waived any right to claim the former landlord's delay was a breach of the Lease or excused

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellants seem to have conceded this issue in their Initial Brief. But, in an abundance of caution, BOFK addresses the issue herein.

Appellants' performance in any manner. Likewise, the Master found that the delays were caused in large part by hurricanes that impacted Hilton Head Island during the relevant time period.

As for the Appellants contention that the former landlord breached the Lease due to a lack of foot traffic or poor aesthetics in the Shopping Center, the Master correctly ruled that Appellants presented no evidence to support this position. (5-8-2023 Master Order at pg. 6). The Master additionally found that the Lease does not require the landlord to maintain any level of foot traffic or to achieve a certain level of aesthetics for the Shopping Center. (5-8-2023 Master Order at pg. 6). A finding that is supported by Strange's own admission that the Lease does not contain such terms. (Strange Depo. at pg. 59, ROA \_\_\_\_).

Moreover, the Lease contains the following integration clause:

This lease represents the final understanding and agreement between landlord and tenant and incorporates all negotiations between the parties. Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that tenant has not relied on any representations, warranties, agreements and/or understandings, oral or written, except those that are set forth in this lease in entering into this lease. And tenant agrees that any and all negotiations, statements and representations made by landlord, agent or other party on behalf of the landlord have been merged into and are superceded by this lease

(Lease, ¶34, ROA \_\_\_\_).

The Master further correctly held that the integration clause precluded Appellants from presenting, and the Master from considering, extrinsic evidence to contradict the terms of the Lease. *See Davis v. KB Home of S.C., Inc.*, 394 S.C. 116, 128, 713 S.E.2d 799, 805 (Ct. App. 2011), *aff'd in part, vacated in part*, 429 S.C. 634, 842 S.E.2d 653 (2014) ("The parol evidence rule prevents the introduction of extrinsic evidence of agreements or understandings contemporaneous with or prior to execution of a written instrument when the extrinsic evidence is to be used to contradict, vary, or explain the written instrument."). (5-8-2023 Master Order at pg. 6). The parol evidence rule is particularly applicable where the writing in question has an integration clause that

expresses the intention of the parties to treat the writing as a complete integration of their agreement. *U.S. Leasing Corp. v. Janicare, Inc*, 294 S.C. 312, 318, 364 S.E.2d 202, 205 (S.C. Ct. App. 1988) (when the writing on its face appears to express the whole agreement, parol evidence cannot be admitted to add another term to the agreement, even when the writing is silent as to the particular term sought to be established).

Accordingly, it was not an abuse of discretion for the Master to find that the prior landlord, WD-I, did not breach the Lease and that WD-I's actions did not excuse T&S' performance under the Lease or cause T&S to breach the Lease.

2. **Appellants Are Not Entitled to an Offset Against Damages for the Value of Improvements or Fixtures**

Appellants seek a credit against their damages for the value of fixtures and improvements to the Premises that remained in the building even after the Appellants permitted a third-party to gut the restaurant of all FF&E.

The Master found that the items at issue - a stove hood, walk-in cooler, sink and built-in cabinets - were an integral part of the operation of the Premises and that the items were permanently installed in the Premises. Therefore, the Master concluded that the items were not trade fixtures, but instead were improvements to the Premises. (5-8-2023 Master Order at ¶10, pg. 4; Lease, §11; ROA \_\_\_\_). Accordingly, the Master correctly determined that the improvements were property owned by the landlord, BOKF. (5-8-2023 Master Order at ¶10, pg. 4 and pg. 6; Lease §17, ROA \_\_\_\_).

Appellants, in effect, are seeking a reduction of damages for the purported value of improvements that they never owned and that were solely owned by BOKF. The Master properly denied this illogical claim by Appellants.

Nevertheless, Appellants contend on appeal that the Master abused his discretion with regard to evidence relating to the value of the improvements by denying the introduction of an amended affidavit by Appellant Strange and by not taking appropriate consideration of Strange's unsupported opinion on the value of the improvements in his filed affidavit. Again, Appellants argument completely misses the mark as any valuation proffered by Strange is meaningless since the improvements were BOKF's property and their value simply cannot be used as an offset against BOKF's damages.

The Master did not abuse his discretion by denying the introduction of an amended affidavit by Appellant Strange or by not reducing BOKF's damage award by value of the improvements opined on by Appellant Strange.

### **3. Respondent BOKF Mitigated its Damages**

In the Motion for Consideration, the Appellants contested the Master's interpretation of the Lease terms pertaining to T&S' liability in the event T&S defaulted under the Lease and the Master's findings concerning BOKF's efforts to mitigate its damages. Appellants seem to have conceded this issue in their Initial Brief. But, in an abundance of caution, BOFK addresses the issues as follows.

As an initial matter, the Master properly found that T&S specifically agreed in the Lease that in the event that T&S defaulted its "liability under the Lease shall not be affected by or diminished in any way whatsoever, for Landlord's failure to re-let the Premises, or if the Premises are re-let, for Landlord's failure to collect the rentals under such re-letting." (5-8-2023 Master Order at ¶3(e), pg. 2 and pg. 6; Lease, § \_\_\_\_, ROA \_\_\_\_). Accordingly, the Master correctly held that Appellants would have been liable for post-default rent during the period were there was no replacement tenant regardless of any failure by BOKF to procure a replacement tenant.

Putting that rationale aside, the Appellants argument is completely misplaced in that it overlooks the fact the Master also specifically found that the undisputed evidence shows that BOKF immediately engaged a commercial broker to market the Premises after it was vacated by T&S Management in March 2000 – at the outset of the Covid 2019 outbreak – and that BOKF procured a replacement tenant within a reasonable period, notwithstanding the difficulties of doing such in the Covid environment. (5-8-2023 Master Order at ¶11, pg. 4 and pg. 6; ROA \_\_\_\_).

The Master clearly did not abuse his discretion in finding that BOKF exercised reasonable efforts to mitigate damages and in locating a new tenant.

#### **4. The Master Properly Considered the Hill Affidavit**

Appellants argue that the Master improperly considered evidence of BOKF’s damages presented through the affidavit of Warren E. Hill (“Hill”), the Senior Vice President and Manager of REO Special Assets/Facilities for BOKF. Hill attested that his duties and responsibilities for BOKF included the oversight of company-owned commercial real estate and activities relating to the collection of delinquent tenant accounts. As such, he was very familiar with the circumstances surrounding this litigation and BOKF’s business relationship with the Appellants. (Hill Aff., ¶4, ROA \_\_\_\_). Appellants failed to present any admissible evidence at either the summary judgment or reconsideration motions challenging Hill’s qualifications as a percipient witness. Accordingly, it was not an abuse of discretion for the Master to consider evidence presented by Hill’s affidavit. *See Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon*, 381 S.C. 417, 434, 673 S.E.2d 448, 457 (2009) (“The admission of evidence is a matter left to the discretion of the [master] and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.”)

Furthermore, Appellants fail to identify any specific findings from the Master that were solely based on the Master’s assessment of Hill’s credibility or reliability as a witness. This lack of specificity, in itself, completely nullifies Appellants challenge to the admissibility of evidence

presented through Hill’s affidavit. *See State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 87, 666 S.E.2d 218, 221 (2008) (argument challenging admissibility of affidavit is “deemed abandoned” for failure to point to any particular statement within the affidavit that would not be admissible in evidence.)

**5. Respondent BOKF’s Damages Are Based on the Proper Time Period**

Appellants maintain, as they did both in the summary judgment and reconsideration motions, that BOKF is not entitled to recover damages that occurred prior to the date when BOKF obtained ownership of the Premises. The Master, however, specifically found that pursuant to and consistent with a Bankruptcy Court order, on February 28, 2020, BOKF and WD-I entered into an Assignment and Assumption of Leases by which WD-I assigned and transferred “*all of its right, title and interest in and to the Lease and Guaranty, including any rent payment and other charges due under the Lease.*” (5-8-2023 Master Order at ¶¶7-8, pgs. 3-4; Assignment and Assumption of Leases, §2, (Emphasis added); ROA \_\_\_\_). The Master further correctly found that the Assignment and Assumption of Leases contains terms indicating that BOKF would seek or agreed to collect rents due WD-I prior to the assignment. (5-8-2023 Master Order at ¶8, pgs. 3-4; Assignment and Assumption of Leases, §5; ROA \_\_\_\_). Therefore, the Master did not abuse his discretion in finding that BOKF was entitled to recover as a component of its damages rent and other charges due under the Lease that accrued before BOKF acquired the Premises.

Appellants further posit that the Master incorrectly included rent differential, late fees and penalties in the damage award that accrued after BOKF sold the Premises in October 2022. This position is just flatly erroneous since BOKF did not seek to recover damages for any period of time after it sold the Premises and the Master did not award any such damages. (Hill Supp. Aff., ¶6 and ¶8 and Ex. G, ROA \_\_\_\_).

## **6. Respondent BOKF'S Damages Include Items Allowed by the Lease**

In the Motion for Reconsideration, Appellants argued that BOKF's damages should not include two components (i) late fees and (ii) the rent differential between the lower amount paid by the replacement tenant and the higher amount that T&S paid pursuant to the Lease. The Master properly found that BOKF could recover both items as part of its damages. Again, Appellants seem to have conceded this issue in their Initial Brief. But, in an abundance of caution, BOKF addresses the issue herein.

The Lease allows the landlord to charge late fees if the tenant fails to pay rent in a timely manner. (Lease, §6(e), ROA \_\_\_\_). As noted above, BOKF acquired all of the landlord's "right, title and interest in and to the Lease and Guaranty, including any rent payment *and other charges* due under the Lease." The Master properly determined that late fees were encompassed within "other charges" and properly held that BOKF was entitled to recover accrued late fees as part of its damages.

The Lease further provides that in the event of a tenant default, the landlord is entitled to recover as damages the deficiency in the amount of rent under the Lease and the amount of rent, if any, that the landlord receives from others to whom the Premises may be rented, and the deficiency bears interest at the rate of 12% until paid. (Lease, §25(c), ROA \_\_\_\_).

Accordingly, the Master correctly found that Lease specifically entitles BOKF to recover as "future damages" the differential between the lower amount paid by the new tenant, Gusto Restaurant, and the amount paid by T&S, with interest on the deficiency (Lease, §25, ROA \_\_\_\_). As such, the Master did not abuse his discretion by including the rent rate differential and accrued interest thereon in the damage award.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should affirm the Master's order denying the Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration.